ksv advisory inc.



Report of KSV Kofman Inc. as Proposed Receiver of the Canadian Business and Assets of Celadon Group, Inc. and the Entities Listed in Footnote 1 Hereto

January 22, 2020

# Contents

1.0	Introduction1		
	1.1 Purposes of this Report		
	1.2 Currency		
	1.3 Restrictions		
	1.4 KSV's Qualifications to Act as Receiver		
2.0	Background3		
3.0	Canadian Employees5		
4.0	Property of the Canadian Debtors		
	4.1 Real Property Sale Transactions		
	4.2 Cash and Accounts Receivable		
	4.3 Trucks and Trailers7		
5.0	US Court Orders		
6.0	The DIP Facility8		
7.0	Court Ordered Charges		
8.0	Conclusion and Recommendation10		

# Appendices Appendix

open	dix	Tab
	Consent to Act of KSV Kofman Inc.	A
	Corporate Organizational Chart	B
	Endorsement of Justice Hainey dated January 15, 2020	C
	Endorsement of Justice Hainey dated January 20, 2020	D

ksv advisory inc.



COURT FILE NO.: \_\_\_\_\_

#### ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

#### IN THE MATTER OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED

#### AND IN THE MATTER OF CERTAIN PROCEEDINGS TAKEN IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE WITH RESPECT TO CELADON GROUP, INC. AND THE AFFILIATED ENTITIES LISTED IN FOOTNOTE "1" HERETO

APPLICATION OF CELADON GROUP, INC. PURSUANT TO PART XIII OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT (ONTARIO), R.S.O. 1990, c. C.-43, AS AMENDED

#### REPORT OF KSV KOFMAN INC. AS PROPOSED RECEIVER

#### **JANUARY 22, 2020**

# **1.0 Introduction**

- On December 8, 2019, Celadon Group, Inc. (the "Foreign Representative") and its affiliated entities<sup>1</sup> listed in footnote 1 to this report ("Report") (collectively, the "Chapter 11 Debtors") commenced proceedings by filing voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "US Court") (the "Chapter 11 Proceedings"). Two of the Chapter 11 Debtors are Canadian corporations: Celadon Canadian Holdings, Limited ("CCHL") and Hyndman Transport Limited ("Hyndman") (jointly, the "Canadian Debtors").
- 2. On December 9, 2019, the US Court heard the Chapter 11 Debtors' first day motions and granted numerous orders. On December 16, 2019, the US Court entered an order authorizing Celadon Group, Inc. to act as Foreign Representative for the Chapter 11 Debtors (the "Foreign Representative Order").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A R Management Services, Inc., Bee Line, Inc., Celadon E-Commerce, Inc., Celadon Canadian Holdings, Celadon International Corporation, Celadon Logistics Services, Inc., Celadon Mexicana, S.A. de C.V., Celadon Realty, LLC, Celadon Trucking Services, Inc., Distribution, Inc., Eagle Logistics Services Inc., Hyndman Transport Limited, Jaguar Logistics, S.A. de C.V., Leasing Servicios, S.A. de C.V., Osborn Transportation, Inc., Quality Companies LLC, Quality Equipment Leasing, LLC, Quality Insurance LLC, Servicios Corporativos Jaguar, S.C., Servicios de Transportacion Jaguar, S.A. de C.V., Stinger Logistics, Inc., Strategic Leasing, Inc., Taylor Express, Inc., Transportation Insurance Services Risk Retention Group, Inc. and Vorbas, LLC.

- 3. The Foreign Representative is making an application to the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Ontario Court") for the following:
  - a) an initial recognition order which, *inter alia,* recognizes the Chapter 11 Proceedings as a "foreign main proceeding", recognizes the Foreign Representative as the "foreign representative", stays all proceedings against the Chapter 11 Debtors, and restricts the Chapter 11 Debtors' ability to sell or otherwise dispose of property in Canada (the "Initial Recognition Order"); and
  - b) a supplemental order (the "Supplemental Order", and together with the Initial Recognition Order, the "Recognition Orders") which, *inter alia*, appoints KSV Kofman Inc. ("KSV") as receiver (the "Receiver") of the assets, undertakings and properties of the Chapter 11 Debtors located in Canada, acquired for, or used in relation to the business carried on by the Chapter 11 Debtors in Canada, including all proceeds thereof, under section 101 of the *Courts of Justice Act* (*Ontario*) ("CJA") and subsection 272(1)(d) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* ("BIA"), recognizes certain US Court Orders made in the Chapter 11 Proceedings, grants a stay of proceedings against the Chapter 11 Debtors and establishes certain charges against the Chapter 11 Debtors' property in Canada, including the property of the Canadian Debtors.
- 4. This Report is filed by KSV in the context of its proposed appointment as Receiver.

# **1.1 Purposes of this Report**

- 1. The purposes of this Report are to:
  - a) provide KSV's qualifications to act as Receiver;
  - b) provide background information about the Chapter 11 Debtors and the Chapter 11 Proceedings, including a summary of the US Court Orders for which recognition is being sought from the Ontario Court;
  - c) set out the status of two pending Canadian real property transactions and other property and assets of the Canadian Debtors, including tractors, trailers, cash and accounts receivable;
  - d) discuss an \$11.25 million debtor-in-possession credit facility dated as of December 16, 2019 (the "DIP Facility") between the Chapter 11 Debtors and Blue Torch Finance LLC, as agent for the lenders to the DIP Facility (the "DIP Lenders");
  - e) discuss the proposed Receiver's Charge and DIP Charge (both as defined in the Supplemental Order); and
  - f) recommend that the Ontario Court grant the relief sought by the Foreign Representative.

# 1.2 Currency

1. All currency references in this Report are to US dollars, unless otherwise noted.

# 1.3 Restrictions

- 1. In preparing this Report, KSV has relied upon the Chapter 11 Debtors' unaudited and publicly available financial information, materials filed in the Chapter 11 Proceedings and discussions with the Chapter 11 Debtors' legal counsel (the "Information").
- 2. KSV has not performed an audit or other verification of the Information. An examination of the Chapter 11 Debtors' financial forecasts as outlined in the *Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook* has not been performed. Future oriented financial information relied upon in this Report is based on the Chapter 11 Debtors' assumptions regarding future events; actual results achieved may vary from this information and these variations may be material. KSV expresses no opinion or other form of assurance with respect to the accuracy of the Information or any financial information presented in this Report or relied upon by KSV in its preparation of this Report.

# 1.4 KSV's Qualifications to Act as Receiver

- 1. KSV is qualified to act as Receiver. KSV's qualifications include:
  - a) KSV is a trustee within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the BIA; and
  - b) KSV has extensive experience acting as a court officer in cross-border insolvency proceedings in a wide variety of industries, including in the recognition proceedings of Allied Group<sup>2</sup>, which operated in the trucking and transportation industry (as do the Chapter 11 Debtors).
- 2. KSV has consented to act as Receiver in these proceedings should the Ontario Court grant the Recognition Orders. A copy of KSV's consent to act as Receiver is attached as Appendix "A".

# 2.0 Background

1. The Chapter 11 Debtors were a significant US-based trucking company, with a fleet of approximately 3,300 tractors and 10,000 trailers and approximately 3,800 employees, including approximately 357 employed by the Canadian Debtors. The Chapter 11 Debtors specialized in international truckload services between the US, Canada and Mexico. The Chapter 11 Debtors' head office is in Indianapolis, Indiana.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> KSV performed this mandate under its predecessor business, Duff & Phelps Canada Restructuring Inc.

- 2. The Chapter 11 Debtors and affiliated companies are comprised of 32 entities. A copy of the corporate organizational chart is attached as Appendix "B". In respect of the Canadian Debtors:
  - a) Hyndman operated a fleet of approximately 310 trucks and trailers from owned properties in Wroxeter and Ayr, Ontario and Winnipeg, Manitoba. Hyndman had been in business since 1937; and
  - b) CCHL is an inactive holding company and the sole shareholder of Hyndman.
- 3. On or around December 9, 2019, all of the Chapter 11 Debtors ceased operations, with the exception of the business operated by Taylor Express, Inc. ("Taylor"), a US debtor. The stated purpose of the Chapter 11 Proceedings is to preserve and sell the Taylor business on a going-concern basis and to conduct an orderly wind down and realization process for the other Chapter 11 Debtors, including the Canadian Debtors.
- 4. Upon the discontinuation of its business on or around December 9, 2019, Hyndman terminated its workforce, including all but three of its 357 employees and owner-operator drivers. The three employees were retained to manage its facilities. Hyndman's workforce was not unionized and it did not maintain any registered pension plans.
- 5. The Chapter 11 Debtors' principal secured creditors are:
  - a) MidCap Funding IV Trust ("MidCap"), as administrative agent and lender under the Chapter 11 Debtors' \$60 million revolving credit facility dated July 31, 2019 (the "Revolving Credit Agreement"), which funded the Chapter 11 Debtors' working capital requirements. The Canadian Debtors are co-borrowers under the Revolving Credit Agreement and granted to MidCap a security interest in substantially all of their assets in order to secure all of the obligations under the Revolving Credit Agreement, which totalled approximately \$31.8 million at the commencement of the Chapter 11 Proceedings, plus interest and costs which continue to accrue. MidCap is also a subordinate secured creditor on the Chapter 11 Debtors' non-current assets, including their real property and vehicle fleet;
  - a group of term loan lenders represented by Blue Torch Finance LLC, as agent (collectively, the "Term Loan Lenders"), who were owed approximately \$103.6 million under a \$105 million term loan facility (the "Term Loan Facility") at the commencement of the Chapter 11 Proceedings, plus interest and costs which continue to accrue. The Canadian Debtors are secured guarantors under the Term Loan Facility. The Term Loan Lenders are the DIP Lenders in the Chapter 11 Proceedings;
  - Luminus Energy Partners Master Fund, Ltd. ("Luminus"), which is a 49.9% shareholder of Celadon Group, Inc. and a secured creditor as a result of its \$30 million "last-out" participation in the Term Loan Facility referenced in 5(b) above; and

- d) numerous vehicle financiers/lessors who have registered security interests in Hyndman's vehicle fleet, the largest of which is Canadian Western Bank ("CWB") (approximately 271 vehicles). CWB is represented by Goldman Sloan Nash & Haber LLP ("GSNH"). GSNH also represents Concentra Bank, Compaction Credit Ltd. and Canadian Equipment Financing and Leasing Inc., which have financed or leased to Hyndman five, eight and eight vehicles, respectively.
- 6. Further information concerning the Chapter 11 Debtors' background, financial position, corporate structure and the reasons the Chapter 11 Debtors filed for Chapter 11 protection are provided in the December 8, 2019 Declaration of Kathryn Wouters, the Senior Vice President of Finance and Treasurer of Celadon Group, Inc. (the "Wouters Declaration"), which is appended to Ms. Wouters' Affidavit sworn January 22, 2020 and was filed in support of the Foreign Representative's application to the Ontario Court (the "Wouters Affidavit").

# 3.0 Canadian Employees

- According to the Affidavit of Jeff Sippel, a former Hyndman employee, sworn January 16, 2020: (a) all but a few of Hyndman's employees were terminated without notice on December 9, 2019; and (b) Hyndman's former employees are owed approximately \$2.3 million in respect of unpaid wages, vacation pay, severance and termination. KSV does not have details as to the allocation of the unpaid amounts owing to the employees in respect of each category of employee obligation.
- KSV has been advised that Koskie Minsky LLP ("Koskie") represents over 200 former Hyndman employees. At a 9:30 a.m. appointment on January 15, 2020 before Mr. Justice Hainey of the Ontario Court, His Honour issued an endorsement (the "January 15<sup>th</sup> Endorsement") stating:

"While it is preferable that the U.S. debtors bring a Recognition proceeding and receivership in Canada under Part 13 of the BIA, I am prepared to issue a receivership on the application of the terminated Canadian employees on short notice, and in either case, appoint KSV Kofman as receiver".

A copy of the January 15<sup>th</sup> Endorsement is attached as Appendix "C".

- 3. The appointment of a Receiver will allow former Canadian employees to claim and receive statutory payments under the *Wage Earner Protection Program Act* ("WEPPA"), including amounts in respect of unpaid wages and termination pay.
- 4. If appointed, one of the Receiver's principal activities will be to administer the WEPPA claims process for the former Hyndman employees.

# 4.0 **Property of the Canadian Debtors**

# 4.1 Real Property Sale Transactions

- As a result of a process carried out by the Chapter 11 Debtors to realize on certain assets, two of the three Canadian real properties are subject to Agreements of Purchase and Sale. Both sale approval motions are scheduled to be heard by the US Court on January 30, 2020. KSV has not yet had an opportunity to discuss the marketing process for these properties with representatives of the Chapter 11 Debtors.
- 2. KSV understands that the purchase price for the Ayr, Ontario and Winnipeg, Manitoba properties is CAD\$12 million and CAD\$4.25 million, respectively. KSV is not otherwise familiar with the terms of these transactions. KSV intends to discuss these transactions and the related marketing efforts immediately following its appointment.
- 3. The January 15<sup>th</sup> Endorsement included the following in respect of the sale of the property owned by the Canadian Debtors: "*The Canadian assets shall not be sold without the approval of this court, despite the sale proceedings underway in the U.S. proceedings of the U.S. debtors*". The Receiver, once appointed, will consider whether it is necessary to register a copy of the Recognition Orders on title to the three Canadian properties. While KSV is cognizant of protecting the interests of Canadian stakeholders, it does not want to take steps that may impair the completion of transactions.
- 4. Following its appointment, KSV will file a report with the Ontario Court concerning the proposed sale of any property in Canada owned by the Chapter 11 Debtors.

# 4.2 Cash and Accounts Receivable

- Following a second 9:30 a.m. appointment, this one on January 20, 2020, Mr. Justice Hainey issued a further endorsement which provided that, *inter alia*, any funds (if any) in the Canadian Debtors' bank accounts, or subsequently deposited into the Canadian Debtors' bank accounts, are to remain in those bank accounts pending the hearing of the Foreign Representative's receivership application. A copy of the January 20<sup>th</sup> endorsement is attached as Appendix "D".
- 2. KSV has been advised that, as at the close of business on January 17, 2020, there was approximately CAD\$187,000 and \$24,000 in the Canadian Debtors' Canadian and US dollar bank accounts, respectively.

- 3. KSV has retained Bennett Jones LLP ("Bennett Jones") to act as its legal counsel in the event that the Recognition Orders are granted and KSV is appointed as Receiver. On January 22, 2020, Bennett Jones provided an opinion<sup>3</sup> which, subject to the standard assumptions and qualifications contained therein, concludes that the security granted by the Canadian Debtors in favour of MidCap, as registered under the PPSA, creates a valid and perfected security interest in the Canadian Debtors' assets situated in Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia. Bennett Jones also notes that MidCap effected PPSA registrations against the Canadian Debtors in Manitoba and Saskatchewan, but the opinion does not provide an opinion under those jurisdictions as Bennett Jones does not practice in Manitoba or Saskatchewan.
- 4. Based on Bennett Jones' review of the PPSA searches, it appears that the only registrations ranking ahead of MidCap are by Blue Torch Finance LLC in respect of the Term Loan Facility (which KSV understands to have been subordinated to MidCap in respect of certain collateral, including cash receipts) and by vehicle or equipment financiers and lessors.
- 5. Based on the foregoing, KSV believes it is appropriate that the Canadian Debtors' accounts receivable collections are swept and applied against MidCap's Revolving Credit Agreement on a daily basis. KSV has been advised that these proceeds contribute to fund the Chapter 11 Proceedings.

# 4.3 Trucks and Trailers

- 1. KSV understands that a large percentage of Hyndman's fleet has been repossessed, including a large number that were financed by CWB. KSV understands that CWB is conducting its own realization process for these vehicles. KSV is unaware whether any other fleet financiers have also repossessed their trucks and trailers.
- 2. On January 21, 2020, KSV sent a representative to Hyndman's facility in Ayr, Ontario to determine if any vehicles remained on site. KSV's representative advised that several trucks and trailers do remain on site. Once appointed, KSV intends to discuss the sale of these vehicles with the Chapter 11 Debtors and the secured creditors having a charge on them. KSV understands that any rolling stock in Canada is likely to be included in a sale of all rolling stock owned by the Chapter 11 Debtors. Ontario Court approval is intended to be sought to the extent rolling stock owned by the Canadian Debtors is included in the sale.
- 3. The Chapter 11 Debtors have allowed vehicle lessors and financiers to have access to their various premises, including those in Canada, in order to take possession of their collateral. That process is expected to continue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A copy of the security opinion will be made available to the Ontario Court should it wish to review it.

# 5.0 US Court Orders

- 1. The Foreign Representative is seeking recognition of the following US Court Orders by the Ontario Court:
  - a) Foreign Representative Order, which authorizes the Foreign Representative to act as the "foreign representative" under Section 269 of the BIA in order to seek the relief sought in its application; and
  - b) Final DIP Order, which authorizes the advances under the DIP Facility to be used to finance the Chapter 11 Proceedings and contemplates that advances under the DIP Facility would be secured by a super-priority charge in both the US and Canada. The terms of the DIP Facility are summarized below in Section 6 of this Report.

# 6.0 The DIP Facility<sup>4</sup>

- 1. As set out in the Wouters Declaration and the Wouters Affidavit, the Chapter 11 Debtors, including the Canadian Debtors, require financing during the Chapter 11 Proceedings to provide the necessary liquidity to wind down their businesses on an orderly basis. It is unclear to KSV at this point what portion of this facility is required for the Canadian Debtors' realization process.
- 2. A copy of the DIP Facility is appended to the Foreign Representative's application materials and summarized in the Wouters Affidavit. A summary of the key terms of the DIP Facility is provided in the table below.

Borrower	Celadon Group, Inc.
Guarantors	The Chapter 11 Debtors, including the Canadian Debtors
Nature of Liability	Canadian Debtors and other Chapter 11 Debtors are to be jointly and severally liable for all obligations under the DIP Facility
Post-petition Lenders	The DIP Lenders, being the same parties as the Prepetition Term Lenders
DIP Agent	Blue Torch Finance LLC
Commitment	Up to \$11.25 million
Interest Rate	Base Rate plus 12.5% (effective interest rate of 17.5%)
Expenses and Fees	\$725,000 (including facility, administration, exit and other fees) plus 2.5% of net sale proceeds in excess of the amounts required to repay the DIP Facility, the Prepetition ABL Obligations and the Prepetition Term Loan Obligations
Budget	The Chapter 11 Debtors must operate in accordance with the DIP Budget
Priority Charge	It is contemplated that advances under the DIP Facility will be secured by the DIP Charge over the Chapter 11 Debtors' property in Canada, which is proposed to rank subordinate only to the Receiver's Charge, Vehicle Finance Liens (as defined in the Supplemental Order) and MidCap's ABL Priority Collateral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this section of the Report are as defined in the DIP Facility.

- 3. In assessing the reasonableness of the DIP Facility and the proposed recognition of the Final DIP Order, KSV considered the following:
  - a) once the Recognition Orders are issued, there should be no prejudice to Canadian creditors in recognizing the DIP Facility as there would be a mechanism in place to protect Canadian creditors to the extent required:
    - (i) Canadian real property or other transactions are subject to the approval of the Ontario Court and any distribution of proceeds therefrom to the DIP Lenders will be subject to further order of the Ontario Court; and
    - (ii) many of Hyndman's vehicle financiers will be conducting their own realization processes for the Hyndman vehicles they financed. To the extent owned vehicles remain on site, their sale will be subject to an order of the Ontario Court. KSV will also be vetting the security<sup>5</sup> and writing to all equipment lessors/financiers who have repossessed their vehicles to obtain an accounting of the sale proceeds so that it can determine if there is any equity that should be made available to subsequent ranking creditors;
  - b) the Canadian Debtors are secured guarantors under the Term Loan Facility and, accordingly, the DIP Facility does not grant security over any previously unencumbered assets of the Canadian Debtors;
  - c) the Chapter 11 Debtors have filed sale approval motions for a number of pending transactions, including the Taylor business for \$14.5 million<sup>6</sup> and the Canadian Debtors' real property in Ayr, Ontario and Winnipeg, Manitoba for CAD\$12 million and CAD\$4.25 million, respectively. The proceeds of these transactions are sufficient to repay in full the DIP Facility after considering the Carve-Out and Permitted Liens;
  - d) while the pricing of the DIP Facility is significant (an effective interest rate of 17.5% plus fees of at least \$725,000), the Wouters Declaration states that the DIP Facility is the result of arm's-length negotiations between the Chapter 11 Debtors and the DIP Lenders. The DIP Facility has been approved by the US Court with the consent of the secured creditors and the funds available under the DIP Facility have been advanced to the Chapter 11 Debtors; and
  - e) as a result of the controls put in place over assets in Canada set out in paragraph 3(a) above, KSV believes that there should be sufficient recoveries in Canada to repay in full all priming obligations in Canada. Any remaining balance (net of administrative costs in Canada) would be paid to the Chapter 11 Debtors for distribution to creditors in the Chapter 11 Proceedings. KSV expects that unsecured creditors of the Canadian Debtors would be treated consistently with unsecured creditors of the Chapter 11 proceedings, which is appropriate in the context of the Recognition Orders.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Bennett Jones is in the process of compiling the security documents it requires to prepare an opinion on the validity of the security granted in favour of Blue Torch Finance LLC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This transaction is not subject to these proceedings.

4. Based on the foregoing, KSV does not believe that any creditor with an economic interest in the Canadian Debtors' assets will be materially prejudiced by the recognition of the Final DIP Order and/or the granting of the DIP Charge.

# 7.0 Court Ordered Charges

- 1. In addition to the DIP Charge, the proposed Supplemental Order contemplates a charge in favour of the Receiver for its fees and disbursements, including legal fees (the "Receiver's Charge").
- 2. The Foreign Representative is seeking a Receiver's Charge in an amount not to exceed \$350,000 to secure the fees and expenses of the Receiver and its counsel.
- 3. A Receiver's Charge is a customary provision in a receivership order it is required by the professionals involved to protect their fees and costs in the event the debtors are unable to pay those amounts during the insolvency process.
- 4. KSV believes that the amount of the Receiver's Charge is reasonable in the circumstances given the scope of its anticipated mandate.

# 8.0 Conclusion and Recommendation

1. Based on the foregoing, KSV recommends that this Honourable Court grant the Recognition Orders sought by the Foreign Representative.

\* \* \*

All of which is respectfully submitted,

SV Kofman Im

KSV KOFMAN INC. SOLELY IN ITS CAPACITY AS PROPOSED RECEIVER OF THE CANADIAN BUSINESS AND ASSETS OF CELADON GROUP, INC. AND THE AFFILIATED ENTITIES LISTED IN FOOTNOTE 1 HERETO AND NOT IN ITS PERSONAL CAPACITY

# Appendix "A"

Court File No.

#### ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

### IN THE MATTER OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED

### AND IN THE MATTER OF CERTAIN PROCEEDINGS TAKEN IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE WITH RESPECT TO CELADON GROUP, INC. AND THE AFFILIATED DEBTORS LISTED IN FOOTNOTE "1" HERETO<sup>1</sup>

# APPLICATION OF CELADON GROUP, INC. PURSUANT TO PART XIII OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.-43, AS AMENDED

#### CONSENT OF KSV KOFMAN INC. TO ACT AS RECEIVER

1. **KSV KOFMAN INC.** hereby consents to act as Receiver of the Canadian property, assets and undertakings of Celadon Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries listed in Footnote 1 below, including Celadon Canadian Holdings Limited and Hyndman Transport Limited, pursuant to the form of Order sought under section 272(1)(d) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended, and section 101 of the *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C-43, as amended.

KSV KOFMAN INC.

Per: David Sieradzki, Vice-President

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Celadon Group, Inc.; A R. Management Services, Inc.; Bee Line, Inc.; Celadon Canadian Holdings, Limited; Celadon E-Commerce, Inc.; Celadon International Corporation; Celadon Logistics Services, Inc.; Celadon Mexicana, S.A. de C.V.; Celadon Realty, LLC; Celadon Trucking Services, Inc.; Distribution, Inc.; Eagle Logistics Services Inc.; Hyndman Transport Limited; Jaguar Logistics, S.A. de C.V.; Leasing Servicios, S.A. de C.V.; Osborn Transportation, Inc.; Quality Companies LLC; Quality Equipment Leasing, LLC; Quality Insurance LLC; Servicios Corporativos Jaguar, S.C.; Servicios de Transportacion Jaguar, S.A. de C.V.; Stinger Logistics, Inc.; Strategic Leasing, Inc.; Taylor Express, Inc.; Transportation Insurance Services Risk Retention Group, Inc.; Vorbas, LLC;

Appendix "B"



Appendix "C"

# Unofficial Transcription of the Endorsement of The Honourable Justice Hainey dated January 15, 2020 with respect to Hyndman Transport Inc.

Terminated Canadian Employees have scheduled a case conference with concerns about unpaid severance pay and other amounts owing to them, some of which they claim as priority secured claims, and the absence of any proceedings in Canada.

The Canadian assets shall not be sold without the approval of this court, despite the sale proceedings underway in the U.S. proceedings of the U.S. debtors.

While it is preferable that the U.S. debtors bring a Recognition proceeding and receivership in Canada under Part 13 of the BIA, I am prepared to issue a receivership on the application of the terminated Canadian employees on short notice, and in either case, appoint KSV Kofman as receiver.

Hainey, J. January 15, 2020

Hyndran Traspert 1/15/20 Terifed Cardie eplagel Love addeled a rore cofeere LAT check about angoid averene pay & stre anot any to then, some of will tren clai as provering second claims, stre doscene Stany proceedings & Carta. The Candin and shell with and without the append of til cont despite the file - proceedings addrag i the V-S. possed if I the U.S. de fotors -DELE I To poperte the Visi dottor big c Rezita it Caroda posedig & recoveding de

Par 135 2 the JIA, 1 am -4and a 1 -p~g~ reiè v-217 52 ( contro و die ニーキ ك e Ô de epeges or te\_  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ rei cari, oppi + J & VSV rec stra a 25-¢ É aude 7

つ\_

Appendix "D"

#### ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

Matter:Hyndman Transport Limited ("Hyndman Canada")Before:The Honourable Justice Glenn HaineyDate:January 20, 2020

#### CASE CONFERENCE ENDORSEMENT

Counsel to the employees have sought a further case conference in this matter. This Endorsement is supplementary to my Endorsement of January 15, 2020. Counsel for employees served an affidavit on Hyndman Canada's Canadian counsel in support of a Receivership order. Canadian counsel for Hyndman Canada has since confirmed that the Foreign Representative will bring an application before this court for an Initial Recognition Order and a Supplemental Order that will, inter alia, trigger the Canadian employees' right to apply for WEPP payments. I have reserved time for that motion, to be heard in front of me on [insert] [next week?]. At that time, proposed .representative counsel for the employees may also bring its motion for a representation order.

Pending the return of the Foreign Representative's motion, no further funds shall be transferred out of Hyndman Canada's bank accounts to any other Chapter 11 Debtor or any other parties' creditors of any Chapter 11 Debtor (including any creditor of Hyndman Canada) without the approval of this Court.

Hyndman-Canada's accounts receivable as they are received, are to be deposited and/or transferred to the trust account of DLA-Piper (Canada) LLP and, unless ordered otherwise by this Court, are to be paid to the Receiver's trust account once appointed. These directions are without prejudice to the Receiver, once appointed, or a trustee, as the case may be, examining all prior cash transfers or other dispositions from Hyndman Canada that were made prior to this Endorsement.

Anualy 20,2020

Hair